Seminar series nr 204

# BVOC emissions from a subarctic Mountain birch: *Analysis of shortterm chamber measurements*



# **Erik Ahlberg**

## 2011

Department of Earth and Ecosystem Sciences Physical Geography and Ecosystems Analysis Lund University Sölvegatan 12 SE-223 62 Lund Sweden



# BVOC EMISSIONS FROM A SUBARCTIC MOUNTAIN BIRCH: ANALYSIS OF SHORT TERM CHAMBER MEASUREMENTS

### **ERIK AHLBERG**

2011

Master degree project / Magisteruppsats 30 ECTS

Supervisor: Thomas Holst

Department of Earth and Ecosystem Sciences Physical Geography and Ecosystems Analysis Lund University Biogenic volatile organic compounds (BVOCs) can have a large affect on atmospheric chemistry by the production or degradation of ozone and by acting as precursors to secondary organic aerosols (SOA). The most common BVOCs are isoprene and its derivatives, terpenes and terpenoids (isoprenoids). These are used by the plant in cell membranes and as steroids, but are also a means of communication and defence. Emissions of BVOCs have proved advantageous in stressful situations such as elevated temperatures and radiation, herbivore attacks and physical damage. Many of the volatile isoprenoids are the main compound in plant scents that are used to communicate and attract pollinators.

The volatilization of compounds is correlated to temperature, but production of BVOCs is dependent on photosynthetic products, and hence light. How plants regulate the production of specific compounds is largely unknown.

Emissions of BVOCs are not large in subarctic ecosystems, but are likely to change in the course of a climate warming that will affect high latitude ecosystems significantly. Research on BVOCs, that involves both carbon and radiation budgets, at northern sites, is therefore of high importance.

This study is an analysis of raw data obtained in a three day monitoring of BVOC emissions from a Mountain birch (*Betula pubescens ssp. czerepanovii*) during July, 2008. The raw data was converted into fluxes and analyzed with regards to correlation to temperature, light and photosynthesis. Emission potentials were calculated using the common algorithms developed by Alex Guenther.

Emissions were significantly lower than found in a previous study on the Mountain birches in the same area (maximum total emission rate at 300 ng  $g_{dw}^{-1}$  h<sup>-1</sup>), although some compounds that were emitted might not have been identified due to lack of references in the GC-MS analysis. Linalool was the main compound emitted with an emission potential of 28,5 ng gdw<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (standard temperature 20°C). A severe herbivore attack in 2004 is thought have increased emissions during consecutive vears. Earlier to measurements showed a decrease in emissions from 2006 to 2007. The low values found in this study of emissions during 2008, might imply that the emission rates are returning to normal values.

**Keywords:** Geography, Physical geography, Volatile organic compounds, BVOC, Mountain birch.

Flyktiga organiska föreningar som släpps ut från växter (BVOC- Biogenic volatile organic compounds) kan ha en stor påverkan på atmosfärisk kemi genom reaktioner som leder till ökad eller minskad ozonproduktion, och genom att de kan vara ett förstadium till aerosoler. De vanligaste flyktiga organiska föreningarna är isopren (2-metyl, 1,3-butadien) och dess derivat, terpener och terpenoider (isoprenoider). Dessa används av växter som t.ex. uppbyggnad av cellmembran, steroider m.m., men är också ett sätt för växten att kommunicera och försvara sig mot yttre påverkan. Utsläpp av flyktiga föreningar har visat sig gynnsamt under vissa situtationer, såsom förhöjd temperatur och solinstrålning, insektsangrepp och fysiska skador. Doften från många växter och blommor består i hög grad av isoprenoider, och används för att kommunicera och locka pollinatorer.

Förångning av kemiska föreningar står i korrelation till temperaturen, men växters produktion är beroende av produkter från fotosyntesen, vilket gör att utsläppen även är beroende av solljus. Hur växter reglerar produktionen av specifika kemiska föreningar är dock i hög grad okänt.

Utsläppen av flyktiga föreningar från växter är inte stora i subarktiska ekosystem, men kommer troligen förändras under en klimatuppvärmning som kommer att påverka nordliga latituders ekosystem betydligt. Därför är forskning på BVOC-området, som involverar kol- och strålningsbudgetar, av stor betydelse.

Den här studien är en analys av rådata från en tredagars mätning av BVOCutsläpp från en Fjällbjörk (*Betula pubescens ssp. czerepanovii*) i juli 2008. Rådatan omvandlades till flöden, och analyserades med avseende på korrelationen mot temperatur, ljus och fotosyntes.

Utsläppen var betydligt lägre än i en tidigare studie på Fjällbjörkar i samma område, men det är möjligt att vissa kemiska föreningar som släpptes ut inte identifierades. Ett stort utbrott av en växtätare år 2004, tros ha triggat en ökning av utsläppen under efterföljande år. Tidigare studier har visat en nedgång i utsläpp även mellan 2006 och 2007. De uppmätta utsläppsnivåerna i denna studie kan därför vara närmare normala värden.

**Nyckelord:** Geografi, Naturgeografi, Flyktiga kolföreningar, BVOC, Fjällbjörk.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

AB	BSTRACT	5
SA	MMANFATTNING	7
1.	Introduction	11
	1.1 Terminology and introduction to BVOCs	,11
	1.2 Objectives and hypothesis	.11
2.	Background	11
	2.1 Isoprene and Isoprenoids	.11
	2.2 Emission controls and environmental influences	.13
	2.2.1 Stomatal conductance	.13
	2.2.2 Plant defence mechanisms and communication	.13
	2.2.3 Temperature and light dependence	.13
	2.3 Influence on atmospheric chemistry	.14
	2.4 Emission magnitudes	.15
	2.5 Birch VOC emissions	.16
	2.6 Uncertainties	.16
	2.7 BVOC emissions in the future	.17
3.	Materials and methods	17
	3.1 Study area	.17
	3.2 Sampling	.18
	3.2.1 BVOC emissions	.18
	3.2.2 Photosynthesis	.21
	3.2.3 PAR	.21
	3.3 Emission potentials	.22
	3.3.1 Fluxes	.22
	3.3.2 Temperature and light dependent compounds	.22
	3.3.3 Temperature dependent compounds	.23
4.	Results	24
	4.1 Emissions	.24
	4.2 Temperature and PAR correlation	.27
	4.3 Photosynthesis	.28
	4.4 Emission potentials	.28
5.	Discussion	32
	5.1 Sources of error	.32
	5.1.1 Measurements	.32
	5.1.2 Analysis and modelling	.32
	5.2 Results	.33
6.	Conclusion	34
Ac	knowledgements	37
Re	eferences	39
Gu	ıla Serien seminar reports	43

# 1. Introduction

#### 1.1 TERMINOLOGY AND INTRODUCTION TO BVOCS

Volatile Organic Compound (VOC) is a common name used for all organic trace gases, excluding carbon dioxide and carbon monoxide. BVOC refers to compounds of biogenic descent, which is believed to be as much as two thirds of global VOC emissions (Guenther, 1997). Other abbreviations are used to further narrow the variety of gases. BVOC is used in this thesis, including compounds emitted from terrestrial plants, excluding methane that is considered a research field on its own.

Biogenic volatile organic compounds connect the biosphere and the atmosphere, and are therefore of interest to a wide range of scientific communities. They are often highly reactive, with corresponding short life-times (Table 1), spanning from minutes to a few hours (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999), and influence atmospheric chemistry by the production or degradation of ozone (depending on the presence of reagents and sunlight) and by acting as precursors to aerosols (Atkinson, 2000; Matsunaga *et al.*, 2003; Sharkey *et al.*, 2008). These properties influence climate, which in turn is the major reason for an increased interest and research in the BVOC field during the last 15 years or so, assisted by improved analysis methods.

Current changes in climate and land use are predicted to alter BVOC emissions (Lathière *et al.*, 2006; Pacifico *et al.*, 2009), though the processes behind the feedbacks are uncertain (IPCC, 2007).

#### 1.2 OBJECTIVES AND HYPOTHESIS

Most biogenic volatiles are emitted by tropical woodlands (Guenther *et al.*, 1995), but high latitude ecosystems, such as the subarctic Mountain birch forests in northern scandinavia, are thought to be more severely altered by climate warming (Sjögersten and Wookey, 2009), a fact that gives high importance to research at northern sites.

Measuring and monitoring BVOC emissions is basic research, but will also aid in the construction of better climate models. Birches, and especially the Mountain birch, show a large variation in emission patterns (Hakola *et al.*, 1998; Hakola *et al.*, 2001; Haapanala *et al.*, 2009). Adding to the scarce data available on Mountain birches is the main objective of this research.

This study, with emission data from three consecutive days of July 2008, is expected to fall into the patterns of contemporary knowledge that exists on BVOC emissions in general and Mountain birches in particular. Emission rates should show a clear dependence on light and temperature.

# 2. Background

#### 2.1 ISOPRENE AND ISOPRENOIDS

Emissions of BVOCs are dominated by the alkenes isoprene ( $C_5$ ) and monoterpenes (MT) ( $C_{10}$ ) (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999; Guenther *et al.* 1995), which are also the compounds that have been studied the most (Seco *et al.*, 2007). Other BVOCs include sesquiterpenes (SQT) ( $C_{15}$ ), alcohols, carbonyls, esters and acids.

Isoprene is a relatively simple hydrocarbon (Figure 1) that can be combined to form structures that are of many uses to plants. Isoprene is synthesized by plants, bacteria and animals, in two different metabolic pathways (Lombard and Moreira, 2011). The precursor to isoprene, a five-carbon unit called active isoprene, is one of nature's most versatile building units. It can be combined and modified in several thousands of ways to create terpenes and terpenoids (isoprenoids) (Lombard and Moreira, 2011) which are among the most abundant BVOCs (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999). Isoprenoids are one of the largest and oldest families of biological compounds and are used by plants in a wide range of areas, e.g. as parts of cell membranes, photosynthetic pigments, hormones and, for the volatile compounds, plant defence mechanisms and scents that aid in plant reproduction (Laothawornkitkul *et al.*, 2009; Lombard and Moreira, 2011; Owen and Peñuelas, 2005).

The most volatile isoprenoids other than isoprene are monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes, which are synthesized by the combination of two and three active isoprene units respectively. Adding more isoprene units gives diterpenes ( $C_{20}$ ), triterpenes ( $C_{30}$ ) and tetraterpenes ( $C_{40}$ ) (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999). Very long carbon chains of isoprene units (polyterpenes,  $>C_{45}$ ) can form materials such as rubber. Only chains containing up to 15 carbon atoms (sesquiterpenes) are volatile (Owen and Peñuelas, 2005).

Monoterpenes and monoterpenoids are often strong smelling compounds, some of which gives well-known plants their distinctive smells, such as limonene, menthol, pinene and camphene (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999). Monoterpenes are also a common additive in food, beverages, ointments, perfumes and cleaning agents, thanks to their often pleasant smell (Mühlbauer *et al.*, 2003).



**Figure 1.** The molecular structure of the most abundant BVOC, isoprene,  $C_5H_8$ , with five carbon atoms and two carbon-carbon double bonds. Combinations of this molecule create isoprenoids (terpenoids), that are one of natures most common building blocks (Lombard and Moreira, 2011). Short chained isoprenoids are also volatile. Figure created using PLT (© Hans J. Reich, 1997-2007).

Linalool, which is a monoterpene alcohol, occurs naturally in many flower scents and is a very common additive in deodorants (Sköld *et al.*, 2004). It is used by a wide range of plants to attract pollinators, and is one of the components in bergamot and lavender oils (Raguso and Pichersky, 1999), but is also emitted from trees such as birches (Haapanala *et al.*, 2009; Hakola *et al.*, 2001) and Scots pine (Hakola *et al.*, 2006). Other uses of linalool include industrial production of vitamins and insecticides. In contact with air, the unsaturated molecule can oxidize and form organic hydroperoxides (Sköld *et al.*, 2004). These contribute to secondary organic aerosol formation (Hua *et al.*, 2008). Linalool is sometimes grouped according to its derivation, and is hence considered a monoterpene (e.g. Arneth and Niinemets, 2010). In this study the grouping was chosen by molecular formula.

# 2.2 EMISSION CONTROLS

#### 2.2.1 Stomatal conductance

The compounds produced in the plant enter the atmosphere via the stomata or by diffusion (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999). Isoprene emissions seem not to be influenced significantly by stomatal conductance. This does not mean that the gas diffuse through the leaf, since emissions have been shown to originate only from leaf sides containing stomatal pores. A decreased stomatal conductance is thought to be compensated by an increased pressure gradient for VOCs which results in emission rates not changing drastically. Compounds with a high water solubility (often caused by oxidation) are affected more by stomatal conductance (Seco *et al.*, 2007).

#### 2.2.2 Plant benefits of VOC emission

BVOCs are essentially emitted because they are volatile, but the emission can also be advantageous for the plant, despite the high energy cost. Releasing specific compounds could be favourable under certain environmental conditions such as temperature stress (Sharkey *et al.*, 2008; Karl *et al.*, 2008), excess irradiation (Peñuelas and Munné-Bosch, 2005), presence of ozone (Vickers *et al.*, 2009) and reactive oxygen species (Sharkey *et al.*, 2008) and herbivore attacks (Arneth and Niinemets, 2010; Dudareva *et al.*, 2004) but also act as a means of communication within the plant as well as between plants and to attract pollinators (Peñuelas *et al.*, 1995). It is also well known that mechanical stress (e.g. breaking of twigs) changes the composition and magnitudes of BVOC emissions (Laothawornkitkul *et al.*, 2009; Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999; Vuorinen *et al.*, 2005). How the plant regulates synthesis of specific compounds is not well known (Laothawornkitkul *et al.*, 2009).

#### 2.2.3 Temperature and light dependence

BVOC emissions are dependent on temperature and photosynthetic active radiation (PAR). All BVOC emissions show clear temperature dependence since they are volatilized by the higher energy. Isoprene emission is also known to be light dependent, due to its synthesis being dependent on photosynthetic products. This is not true for all other BVOCs that are often stored inside the plant and emitted even if dark, given high enough temperatures to volatilize the compounds (Kesselmeier, 1999). This theory has worked well on a small scale but may need revision when modelling long term and large scale emissions since temperature alone cannot explain emission variations, as shown for monoterpenes by Schurgers *et al.* 2009.

When modelling emissions, a light and temperature dependent algorithm for isoprene (called  $G_{TL}$  in this thesis), and a temperature only dependent algorithm (called  $G_{TEMP}$ ) for all other BVOCs have been empirically established by Guenther *et al.* (1993) (see section 3.3). These have been rather successful in describing emission variations due to mentioned variables (Guenther *et al.*, 1995). The algorithms describing the emission's light and temperature dependence show similarities to models describing  $CO_2$  fixing (Chopin *et al.*, 2002), with a saturation level for high PAR and an increase with temperature up to a certain level where production, and hence emission, decreases, except for stored compounds (Figure 2). The global geographic distribution of emission capacities for isoprene emitting plants is correlated to temperature and irradiation, but also at a smaller scale, such as leaves within a tree canopy, variations in emissions that are consistent with the hypothesis of thermal stress can be seen (Sharkey *et al.*, 2008; Harley *et al.*, 1996).



**Figure 2.** The theoretic relation of isoprene and monoterpene emissions to light (PAR), under constant temperature (a), and temperature, under constant PAR (b). Y-axis describes the emission according to the algorithms by Guenther *et al.* (1993), normalized by dividing by the emission at standard conditions. With high PAR and temperature, production of BVOCs will reach a saturation level or even decrease, depending on availability of photosynthetic products. Compounds that are already produced and stored in the plant will be emitted solely depending on temperature. Figures after Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999.

#### 2.3 INFLUENCES ON ATMOSPHERIC CHEMISTRY

BVOCs play an important role in tropospheric chemistry. A fairly large amount, typically 0-5% (Llusià and Peñuelas, 2000; Chopin et al., 2002), of the carbon fixed by photosynthesis is released as VOCs, especially under stressful conditions, which influence atmospheric chemistry and indirectly, climate. Many of the BVOCs contain carbon-carbon double bonds that will readily react with NO<sub>x</sub> and hydroxyl radicals to form ozone (Atkinson and Arey, 2003; Pacifico et al., 2009; Atkinson, 2000), which have implications both for climate and plants. The influence of BVOCs on ozone pollution is significant, both in rural and urban areas (Bao et al., 2010). If ozone concentrations are high and the air is relatively clean of anthropogenic NO<sub>x</sub> emissions, the VOCs can also consume ozone, by reacting directly with the O<sub>3</sub> molecule or by the hydroxyl radicals that are formed by products removal of from the photodisassociation of ozone (Atkinson and Arey, 2003; Matsunaga et al., 2003; Laothawornkitkul *et al.*, 2009).

Isoprene and isoprenoids are the largest contributors to the formation of secondary organic aerosols (SOA), which can have an important role in the global radiation budget by absorbing and scattering sunlight or by acting as cloud-condensation nuclei (Henze and Seinfeld, 2006; IPCC, 2001). The oxidation of BVOCs lowers their volatility, thus leading to condensation and formation of aerosols. Goldstein *et al.* (2009) found that the spatial and temporal distribution of potentially cooling aerosol clouds over south eastern USA can not be explained by anthropogenic emissions alone, but is consistent with biogenic VOC emissions. They propose that the SOA formed by the combination of anthropogenic and biogenic emissions could be considered a negative radiative forcing caused by humans, regionally comparable with the effects of  $SO_2$ , but there is not enough data to include the BVOC induced aerosols in larger models. Even with a low percentage of VOCs turning into aerosols, they must be considered in climatic models due to the substantial emissions.

Category	Chemical lifetimes		Atmospheric concentrations	
	Day	Night		
Isoprene	3 h	1,5 h	ppt to several ppb	
Monoterpenes	<5 min – 3 h	<1 – 30 min	ppt to several ppb	
Sesquiterpenes	<4 min	<2 min	not detectable due to high reactivity	
Other VOCs	vary	ving	1-30 ppb	

**Table 1.** Chemical lifetimes of the most abundant BVOCs, estimated with regards to different atmospheric concentrations of  $NO_3$  and OH during day and night (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999).

#### 2.4 EMISSION MAGNITUDES

BVOCs are emitted from above- and below-ground plant organs. Flowers and fruits have the greatest variety of compounds, but leaves have the largest mass emission rates (Laothawornkitkul *et al.*, 2009). Isoprene and monoterpene emissions from specific plants have been recorded at hundreds of  $\mu g g_{dw}^{-1} h^{-1}$  (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999), but are generally much lower. Examples of emissions from different ecosystems are given in Table 2.

Total emission of BVOCs has been estimated by different models at 700-1150 Tg C per year, of which more than 50% consist of isoprene and monoterpenes (Lathière *et al.*, 2006; Guenther *et al.*, 1995). There are uncertainties to all models, and there are fairly large uncertanties concerning emission controls (Pacifico *et al.*, 2009; Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999; Laothawornkitkul *et al.*, 2009). However, estimates on global isoprene emission have shown low variation in different reports, but this is possibly due to similarities in the models (Arneth *et al.*, 2008).

Sesquiterpenes often have very short chemical lifetime after release (Table 1), making it hard to measure emissions on a large scale. Duhl *et al.* (2008) compiled several measurements of sesquiterpenes and found a large span of emission rates, from 10s to 1000s of ng  $g_{dw}$ <sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>.

Ecosystem description	Emiss (µg C	Emission rates (μg C g <sub>dw</sub> <sup>-1</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> )		
	Isoprene	Monoterpenes		
Boreal conifers	8	2,4		
Temperate deciduous	45	0,8		
Tropical seasonal forest	16	0,8		
Tropical rain forest	24	0,4		
Savanna	16	0,8		
Dry evergreen	45	2,4		
Tundra	16	0,8		

**Table 2.** Examples of estimates on isoprene and monoterpene emission rates from different ecosystems (Guenther *et al.*, 1995). Actual emissions within an ecosystem may show large deviations.

#### 2.5 BIRCH VOC EMISSIONS

Birch species are not the largest BVOC emitters (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999), but is thought to increase its land cover in northern regions, at the expense of boreal forests, due to climate change (Kellomäki *et al.*, 2001). The most common birch species emit less isoprene and monoterpenes per leaf dry weight than the vaster Pine and Spruce forests (Table 3).

Isoprene is not emitted to any significant amount from Birches, but monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes and oxygenated VOCs can be substantial (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999; Hakola *et al.*, 1998; Haapanala *et al.*, 2009). Hakola *et al.* (1998) showed that the emitted compounds of Silver birch (*Betula pendula*) vary a lot during the course of a growing season, and among individual trees, and the same variations apply for the Downy birch (*Betula pubescens*) (Hakola *et al.*, 2001). Mountain birch (*Betula pubescens*) (Hakola *et al.*, 2001). Mountain birch (*Betula pubescens ssp. czerepanovii*), which is a subspecies of the Downy birch, have not been examined thoroughly regarding its VOC emissions. Haapanala *et al.* (2009), who did measurements at the same location this study was performed, recorded a large variation of monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes, with slightly higher emission potential than those of the Downy birch. Other VOCs, especially linalool, were also emitted at fairly large rates.

Vuorinen *et al.* (2005) analyzed the effect of elevated  $CO_2$  and  $O_3$ , and a combination of these, on Silver birch VOC emissions, with no significant result.

Birches do not store terpenes to a significant amount, since they lack resin ducts or other long term storage compartments (Haapanala *et al.*, 2009). This property means that the emissions of all compounds should be closely related to the photosynthesis (i.e. light and temperature).

**Table 3.** Isoprene and monoterpene emission potentials at standard temperature (30°C) and PAR (1000  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) of the most common tree species of Sweden, Norway spruce and Scots pine, as well as the most abundant birch species (Skogsdata 2010, www.slu.se), Silver birch. (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999)

Tree species	cies Emission rates	
	<u>(µg g</u>	dw <sup>-1</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> )
	Isoprene	Monoterpenes
Norway spruce (Picea abies)	0,34-1,8	0,2-7,8
Scots pine (Pinus silvestris)	-	0,8-12,1
Silver birch (Betula pendula)	0	0,19-5,4

#### 2.6 UNCERTAINTIES

Much of the BVOC research has been made during the last two decades, and understanding of the functions of these compounds and the mechanisms behind their emissions has increased, though uncertainties are still great (Laothawornkitkul *et al.*, 2009). Most measurements of BVOCs are short term experiments, and the algorithms used to describe emission potentials do not take into account any long term effects of e.g. elevated temperature or radiation (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999; Peñuelas and Staudt, 2010). A change in modelling algorithms is also needed since upscaling of leaf or canopy based emission measurements of monoterpenes have failed to describe seasonal variations (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999; Schurgers *et al.* 2009). Niinemets *et al.* (2004) argued that current models might not reflect the emissions, based on a

lack of physiochemical controls in the simulations. This is something which could be incorporated in various new emission algorithms that are not focusing solely on the environmental variables temperature and light, but rather consider processes within the plant (Grote and Niinemets, 2008).

It can be hard to compare results from different studies and models. There is a large variation in both magnitude and content of the emission from different plants (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999). Furthermore, the emission capacity may differ largely within a species, depending on the measurement site. Especially, laboratory studies, usually on young plants, have shown different behaviour compared to mature, wild growing plants. Even within a group of plants of the same species at the same site, emissions may differ largely, partly due to herbivore outbreaks (Haapanala *et al.*, 2009). The measurement technique used can also affect the results. Measurements on a single branch or leaf are hard to extrapolate to a forest or ecosystem, but might be able to capture compounds that can not be found in ecosystem-scale measurements.

With a lack of measurements and emission controls not fully understood, all modelling and conclusions are precarious.

#### 2.7 BVOC EMISSIONS IN THE FUTURE

With a changing climate the processes involved in BVOC production and emission will also change. This possible climatic feedback has not been given much attention compared to the  $CO_2$  budget in general (Peñuelas and Staudt, 2010). A simulated climate warming (1,9°C and 2,5°C) in a subarctic tundra doubled the BVOC emissions (Faubert *et al.*, 2010).

Future scenarios that might effect plant emissions include increases in temperature, atmospheric  $CO_2$  levels and plant production rates, as well as a land-use change with more cropland and less tropic forests. There is a strong correlation between increased temperature and increased BVOC emission, given both by a higher synthesis rate of the compounds and by an increased vapour pressure (Guenther *et al.*, 1995; Peñuelas and Staudt, 2010). The climatic warming during the last 30 years may already have induced an increase in BVOC emissions by 10% (Peñuelas and Staudt, 2010), as calculated with the common emission algorithms. A model, based on the IPCC A1B scenario (IPCC, 2007), by Heald *et al.* (2008) estimates an increase in BVOC emissions of 22% and biogenic SOA of 26% by 2100. This however does not take into account a possible decrease in emissions due to higher concentrations of ambient  $CO_2$ , which is thought to inhibit isoprene emissions (Arneth *et al.*, 2007). Climate-driven changes in vegetation, mainly the recession of tropical forests, can also lead to less isoprene being emitted (IPCC, 2007). More research is needed to fully understand the mechanisms and feedbacks a changed climate might impose on BVOC emissions.

# 3. Materials and methods

#### 3.1 STUDY AREA

The measurements took place during three days in July 2008 at Stordalen near the village of Abisko (68°21'N,18°49'E), northern Sweden, about 200 km north of the arctic circle (Figure 3). The mean annual temperature in Abisko between 1961-1990 (WMO reference period) is -0,8°C (data from Swedish meteorological institute, SMHI: www.smhi.se). Mean temperature during this period is below 0°C from November to



**Figure 3.** Map (scale roughly 1:13 000 000) showing northern Scandinavia from about  $61-71^{\circ}N$ . Dashed line is the arctic circle ( $66^{\circ} 33' 44''$ ). Arrow is roughly pointing at the Stordalen national park.

April, resulting in a very short growing season. The area is dry with an annual precipitation around 300 mm, of which a lot is snow. July is the warmest (11,0°C) and wettest (53,7 mm) month. Mean annual temperature in 2008 was 0,4°C (data from Abisko scientific research station, www.linnea.com/~ans/). The three days of measurements were all sunny and among the warmest of the year (Figure 17), but mean temperatures of July and preceding months were less than 1°C off the reference period's monthly average.

Today, birch forests account for 13 % of Sweden's total forest area (Skogsdata 2010, www.slu.se), but most of these consist of Silver birch, *Betula pendula*. The Mountain birches *(Betula pubescens ssp. czerepanovii)* growing in Stordalen are small, sometimes shrub like, trees. The canopy is at a height of about 4,5 m. This birch species is common in high-latitude ecosystems, often forming the tree line between the vast, boreal coniferous forests and bare mountains.

#### 3.2 SAMPLING

#### 3.2.1 BVOC emissions

Measurements were made between 28-30<sup>th</sup> of July 2008, using the approach described by Ortega *et al.* (2008), with a flow-through chamber technique. A branch of the Mountain birch was enclosed in a chamber, assembled at Lund university (Figures 4 and 5). The chamber is covered with a transparent Teflon film where BVOCs do not stick. Air, that was cleaned from hydrocarbons and ozone, was pumped into the system at a rate of approximately 5 l min<sup>-1</sup>. Air from inside the chamber was pumped through tubes, which trap the BVOCs, at a rate of 220 ml min<sup>-1</sup>. These tubes contain two adsorbing agents, Tenax TA, a porous organic polymer, and Carbograph ITD, graphitized carbon black, which are designed to trap volatile and semi-volatile

compounds (detailed descriptions of the tubes and manufacturer are available in Ekberg *et al.*, 2009). A reference tube, with the same flow rate, was also taken of the inflow air. The tubes were changed each hour and closed with long-term storage caps. Around ten sample tubes were collected each day.



**Figure 4.** Branch chamber, with inflow and outflow tubes. All components inside the chamber were covered with Teflon, on which surface BVOCs do not stick. The chamber was carefully set up at a height of about 1,5 m, facing south making sure it was sunlit during all of the day. Condensation (see picture) occurred inside the chamber during most measurements. Photo: Thomas Holst.



**Figure 5.** Schematic picture of the branch chamber measurements. The chamber is covered by a transparent, Teflon film. Excess air is flowing out of gaps in the chamber, which has a slight overpressure. Sampling tubes were exchanged after one hour. In addition to the above set-up, measurements of the flow rates into the chamber and into the tubes were taken in order to calculate concentrations of captured compounds.

A number of preventive actions were taken to inhibit unnatural emission patterns. The branch set up was made as gentle as possible, one day prior to measurements, so that induced emission, from tempering of the branch and leaves, was reduced. The chamber was open at all times except when measurements took place. It was also flushed with cleaned air during ten minutes prior to sampling initiation so that BVOCs emitted during other times of the day were not measured.

Due to lack of time, the tubes were stored in a refrigerator for one year, before the content was quantified and identified by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) at the Finnish Meteorological Institute's air chemistry laboratory, giving a result in ng m<sup>-3</sup> for twenty compounds that was found in the samples. GC-MS is an analysis method combining separation (chromatography) and identification (mass-spectrometry) of compounds in a sample. The samples were volatilized by heating of the tubes, and then condensed in a cold-trap. A secondary evaporation by heating leads the gases into the GC. Only compounds that were available as reference samples at the time of analysis could be identified.



**Figure 6.** Daily variation of relative humidity and temperature inside the chamber (black) and in ambient air (grey) during measurements. The chamber was flushed before measurements but it is clear that the temperature did not reach ambient levels. As expected, the relative humidity increased within the chamber during measurement. The close relationship between the two variables is also shown, as rapid increases in temperature results in a dip in relative humidity.

Continuous measurements of temperature and humidity were taken inside the chamber and on ambient air, both showing significantly higher values inside the chamber (Figure 6), due to the relatively stationary air. Especially the elevated temperature affects VOC emissions. All leaves on the branch inside the chamber were collected after the last day of measurements and were later dried and weighed in order to convert the results from the GC-MS into emissions per gram leaf dry weight ( $g_{dw}^{-1}$ ). The leaves' area was also measured. One leaf inside the chamber had turned yellow.

PAR was measured within a few meters of the chamber set up. The sensor was placed above the canopy so that it was only shadowed by clouds.

#### 3.2.2 Photosynthesis

Photosynthesis was measured on leaf level by an infra-red gas analyzer, LI6400. This is a widely used portable system in which a single leaf is strapped onto a cuvette, in a closed environment. The leaf should cover the area of the cuvette so that fluxes can be measured directly per area unit. Humidity, temperature and  $CO_2$  concentration of the inflow air is controlled. The PAR is also set manually, but was set to follow ambient variations. Photosynthesis is calculated directly, as  $\mu$ mol  $CO_2$  m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. This rate was transformed into  $\mu$ g (C)  $g_{dw}$ -1 h<sup>-1</sup> by multiplying by the mol weight of carbon (12) and dividing by the leaf dry weight per m<sup>2</sup>. During the first two days, temperature was locked at 25°C and 22°C respectively.

#### 3.2.3 PAR

PAR was measured in a tower reaching above the canopy. Additionally to PAR, the tower was also mounted with a sensor measuring temperature. This series of measurement stretched from early June to late November 2008, and can be used to see how BVOC emissions correlate to long term changes in PAR and temperature (Figure 7).



**Figure 7.** Variations in temperature (grey) and PAR (black) measured above the canopy during two weeks, including the days of measurement (28-30<sup>th</sup> of July, marked with dashed lines).

#### 3.3 EMISSION POTENTIALS

To be able to compare the results to other measurements, a standardized emission potential was calculated. The most commonly used standard values are at a PAR of 1000  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> and a temperature of 30°C. These values are unrealistic at subarctic sites and therefore an additional calculation using a temperature of 20°C was made, since this is more in accordance with realistic maximum temperatures of the growing season. This value was also used by Ekberg *et al.* (2009) and Haapanala *et al.* (2009), whose studies were also conducted near Abisko.

Calculations were made using the common algorithms describing the correlation of VOC emission to PAR and temperature developed by Guenther *et al.* (1993) and slightly modified by Guenther *et al.* (1997).

#### 3.3.1 Fluxes

The results from the mass-spectrometry (ng m<sup>-3</sup>) were transformed into fluxes after transformation of variables into appropriate units (Eq. 1);

$$E_{rate} = \frac{(C_{out} - C_{in}) \cdot V}{g_{dw} \cdot t}$$
(1)

where  $E_{rate}$  is the emission rate,  $C_{out}$  is the concentrations of VOCs in the sample tube taken off the outflow air,  $C_{in}$  is the concentrations of VOCs in the sample tube taken off the inflow air, V is the volume of air that passed through the chamber,  $g_{dw}$  is the leaf dry weight and t is the duration of the measurement. Resulting units are ng  $g_{dw}^{-1}$  h<sup>-1</sup>.

The cleaned inflow air showed very low VOC concentrations, likely within the error margin of the GC-MS, but since some compounds were not emitted by the birch at any large rates the fluxes could show (very small) negative values. These values did not change the relative importance of any group of compounds, and were not used in further calculations.

#### 3.3.2 Temperature and light dependent compounds

The model describing emissions that are dependent on both temperature and light, mostly used only for isoprene, is (Guenther *et al.* 1993):

$$I = I_s \cdot C_L \cdot C_T \tag{2}$$

where I is the isoprene emission rate from the chamber measurements,  $I_S$  is the isoprene emission rate at standard temperature and PAR (emission potential).  $C_L$  describes the light dependency (Figure 2) by

$$C_L = \frac{\alpha C_{L1} L}{\sqrt{1 + \alpha^2 L^2}}$$
(3)

where *L* is PAR (µmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>).  $\alpha$  (=0,0027) and *C*<sub>*L*1</sub> (1,066) are empirical coefficients.

 $C_T$  describes the temperature dependency (Figure 2) by

$$C_{T} = \frac{\exp\left(\frac{C_{T1}(T - T_{s})}{RT_{s}T}\right)}{C_{T3} + \exp\left(\frac{C_{T2}(T - T_{M})}{RT_{s}T}\right)}$$
(4)

where *T* and *T<sub>s</sub>* (K) are measured and standard temperature, *R* (=8,314 J K<sup>-1</sup>) is the universal gas constant,  $T_M$  (=314 K),  $C_{T_1}$  (=95000 J mol<sup>-1</sup>),  $C_{T_2}$  (=230000 J mol<sup>-1</sup>) and  $C_{T_3}$  (=0,961) are all empirical coefficients.

To find the most accurate emission potential, a series of calculations and tests was completed.  $C_T$  and  $C_L$  was calculated at each sample point using the measurements of temperature and PAR. These were used to obtain a set of values for  $I_S$  for the measured emission rates, using Eq. 2. The mean value of  $I_S$  was then used to calculate modeled values for I. In order to get the best fit, values close to the mean (at an accuracy of 0,5 ng gdw<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) were modeled and tested by calculating the root mean square error (RMSE, Eq. 5), which has the same units as the emission potential (Figure 8).

$$RMSE = \sqrt{\frac{\sum (E_i - E_{pot,i})^2}{n}}$$
(5)

$$NRMSE = \frac{RMSE}{E_{\max} - E_{\min}}$$
(6)

The emission potential value that yielded the smallest RMSE was chosen (Figure 8). This is a fairly good measure of the models but is complicated by the seemingly sensitive emission patterns, with violent variations that the models fail to describe. RMSE was normalized by division of the sample intervals in order to be able to compare different compounds (Eq. 6). Resulting NRMSE takes on values between 0-1 and can be viewed as a percentage of the measurement interval.

#### 3.3.3 Temperature dependent compounds

VOCs that are thought to be stored inside the plant are best described by an algorithm which is only temperature dependent (Guenther *et al.*, 1993). This model is most often used for monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes:

$$M = M_s \cdot \exp(\beta(T - T_s)) \tag{7}$$

where *M* is the emission rate at temperature *T* (K),  $M_S$  is the emission rate at standard temperature  $T_S$  (K) and  $\beta$  (K<sup>-1</sup>) is an empirical coefficient set to 0,09 for monoterpenes (Guenther *et al.*, 1993) and 0,18 for sesquiterpenes (Haapanala *et al.*, 2009; Duhl *et al.*, 2008). The most accurate emission potential is found using the same approach as for the temperature and light dependent algorithm (Eq. 2).



**Figure 8.** Emission potentials were chosen by minimizing the RMSE. The simulated emissions of three different emission potentials are plotted over the measurements (dots) in (a). The RMSE of the modeled data for different emission potentials were calculated, until a minimum (arrow) was found (b). Figures show emission potentials of monoterpenes calculated using the temperature dependent algorithm with a standard temperature of 30°C.

# 4. Results

#### 4.1 EMISSIONS

The Mountain birch emitted a wide variety of compounds, with Linalool being the most substantial (Table 4, Figure 10). Linalool emissions accounted for half of all the mass emitted during the three days of measurements. Second to Linalool was an array of compounds at similar emission rates, with  $\alpha$ -Humulene,  $\beta$ -Caryophyllene, Isoprene, Limonene, and  $\alpha$ -Pinene at between 5-10% of total mass emitted. This emission pattern was kept throughout the experiment.

A test in near darkness was conducted at the end of one of the measurement days. Although emissions decreased quickly, the sesquiterpene isomers  $\alpha$ -Humulene and  $\beta$ -Caryophyllene was released to some extent (between 10-40 ng m<sup>-3</sup>, which equals up to 2 ng g<sub>dw<sup>-1</sup></sub> h<sup>-1</sup>), while all other BVOCs that were detected approached 0 ng m<sup>-3</sup>.



**Figure 9.** The daily variations of PAR and temperature (dashed line) during the three days of measurements are shown on the top row. The emissions of the compounds Isoprene, Limonene (Monoterpene),  $\alpha$ -Humulene (Sesquiterpene) and Linalool (Monoterpenoid, alcohol), show variations that are mostly similar to each other, but much more violent than those of PAR and temperature.



**Figure 10.** Relative mass importance of emissions for (a) groups of compounds and (b) specific compounds. These mutual magnitudes were not changed drastically from day to day.

**Table 4.** A list of all the compounds that were measured. The group "Other VOCs" include all compounds not sharing the molecular formula of monoterpenes or sesquiterpenes. The ones measured here are all terpenoids, including 3 monoterpene alcohols.

Compound	% of total emission	Molecular Formula
Isoprene	7,6	$C_5H_8$
Monoterpenes	20,8	C10H16
α-Pinene	6,2	
Camphene	0,2	
β-Pinene	3,3	
Carene	2,1	
Terpinolene	2,6	
Limonene	6,3	
Sesquiterpenes	17,7	$C_{15}H_{24}$
Longicyclene	0	
Alloaromadendrene/Farnesene	0,2	
α-Humulene	9,5	
Aromadendrene	0,1	
β-caryophyllene	7,9	
Longifolene	0	
Iso-Longifolene	0	
Other VOCs	53,9	
P-Cymene	1,8	$C_{10}H_{14}$
Linalool	50,7	$C_{10}H_{18}O$
Bornylacetate	0,2	$C_{12}H_{20}O_2$
1,8-Cineol	0,9	$C_{10}H_{18}O$
MBO (2-Methyl-3-buten-2-ol)	0.4	C <sub>5</sub> H <sub>10</sub> O

#### 4.2 CORRELATION TO TEMPERATURE AND PAR

The emissions were clearly correlated to temperature and PAR (Figures 9 and 11), although it is hard to say which had the strongest influence, since the temperature is generally increased with higher irradiation. Both photosynthesis (production) and a high temperature (volatilization) are needed for emissions to take place. It was clear however that emission approached zero at night time measurements when light was scarce.

The different compound groups were tested individually by normalizing emission rates, both by dividing with the highest value and the average value, and plotting against PAR. A linear trend line was fitted to the values. All groups showed a similar strong response to PAR. Sesquiterpenes had a slightly lower response and more values that were not close to zero at a low PAR, but sample points were deemed too few, and with many outliers, to draw any conclusions on which groups had the strongest or weakest response to PAR.



**Figure 11.** Emission rates of all compounds added together plotted against temperature (a) and PAR (b). Although the relationship seems clear with higher emissions at high PAR and temperature, the measurements are too few and spread out to establish a good curve fit. Furthermore, a clear saturation is not visible (compare to theoretic emissions of Figure 2).

#### 4.3 PHOTOSYNTHESIS

The photosynthetic rate (Figure 12) at saturation level was around 10  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>, which corresponds to 5760  $\mu$ g (C) g<sub>dw</sub><sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>, which is significantly larger than the maximum emission rates of BVOCs at ~300 ng g<sub>dw</sub><sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup> (Figure 11). Because different leaves were used each day, and the temperature was not set to ambient values during the first two days, the photosynthesis at saturation level is very spread out. During the first day, saturation was at 8  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>, which can be seen as a line in the figure. The leaf used this day did not cover the cuvette entirely, resulting in a lower measured photosynthetic rate. The lower saturation values (line at ~6  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>), are from the third day when temperature was variable.

BVOC emission and Photosynthesis were not measured simultaneously at the same conditions. In order to control the correlation between emission and photosynthesis, all values needs to be linked to their corresponding PAR value. Since the PAR values were not measured by the same sensor (see Discussion), such a comparison would be precarious. A correlation is however expected (Figures 12 and 11b), especially at low PAR where neither photosynthesis nor emission have reached saturation levels.



**Figure 12.** Photosynthesis during the three days of measurements plotted against PAR. Although the sampling points are well spread out, it is clear that the saturation level was reached at a relatively low PAR of ~400  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. The large variation of PAR at the saturation level is due to different temperatures, which also affect photosynthesis, but also partly because different leaves were used each day, one of which did not cover the area of the cuvette, resulting in lower photosynthesis, with saturation at around 8  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>.

#### 4.4 EMISSION POTENTIALS

Emission potentials were calculated for isoprene, monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes and linalool. For comparative reasons, the emission potentials of monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes were calculated using both the temperature dependent algorithm ( $G_{TEMP}$ ) and the temperature and light algorithm ( $G_{TL}$ ) (Table 5). The emission potential of Linalool, the compound that by far was emitted at the largest rate, was calculated, using  $G_{TL}$ , at 28,5 ( $T_s$  20°C) and 104 ( $T_s$  30°C) ng  $g_{dw}$ -1 h-1 respectively, with a NRMSE of 0,166.

Compounds	$\mathbf{G}_{\mathbf{T}}$ $\beta_{\mathbf{M}\mathbf{T}} = \mathbf{C}$ $\beta_{\mathbf{S}\mathbf{Q}\mathbf{T}} = \mathbf{C}$	<b>G</b> τεmp β <sub>MT</sub> = 0,09 K <sup>-1</sup> β <sub>SQT</sub> = 0,18 K <sup>-1</sup>		Gtl	
	T <sub>S</sub> = 20°C	Ts = 30°C	$T_s = 20^{\circ}C$	$T_S = 30^{\circ}C$	
Monoterpenes	12,5	31,0	10,5	38,0	
	(0,204)	(0,204)	(0,172)	(0,172)	
Sesquiterpenes	5,5	34,5	9,0	33,0	
	(0,235)	(0,235)	( <i>0,227</i> )	(0,227)	

**Table 5.** Emission potentials (ng  $g_{dw}^{-1} h^{-1}$ ) for monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes, at different standard temperatures, using both the temperature dependent algorithm ( $G_{TEMP}$ ) and the temperature and light dependent algorithm ( $G_{TL}$ ). Normalized root mean square errors (NRMSE) are shown in parenthesis, and takes on values from 0-1.

Emission potentials of monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes are of similar magnitudes, as expected by the emission rates. There are differences in how the emission potentials change when using a different standard temperature as input in the  $G_{TEMP}$ , in that sesquiterpenes has a stronger response to high temperatures, which can be seen clearly in Figure 13. This property is a consequence of the different  $\beta$ -values and is hard to establish by looking at the measured emissions.

The emission rates did not change drastically for any of the compounds or their relative magnitudes during the three days. This was tested by calculation of daily emission potentials of monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes (Table 6, compare Figure 9). When grouping the compounds there are some differences between the days.

The emission potential values, yielded by the initial calculations, had large variations, depending on the measurement points, and therefore, the chosen values do not fit the measurement variations very well (Figure 15), which can be seen in the NRMSE values that are fairly high. The emissions seem to be much more sensitive to variations in temperature and PAR than the algorithms, although the reasons for emission variations could originate from other properties as well.

The models were compared to the measurements visually (as in Figure 15), but also by plotting estimated values against measured values (Figure 16). The  $G_{TEMP}$  algorithm fails to describe the low measured values, partly since the temperature never reached very low values but mostly because the algorithm assumes that all compounds emitted are stored. The  $G_{TL}$  algorithm model reaches zero emission with low PAR, which is clearly closer to real values. Both models fail to estimate the highest measured emission rates.

Table 6. A comparison of the emission potentials at $T_s = 30^{\circ}C$ (303 K), with the
same $\beta$ values as above, calculated per day. Although the days were not dramatically
different in emission patterns regarding both magnitudes and composition, there are
variations. Monoterpenes were emitted at the largest rate on the third day of
measurement, while sesquiterpenes were emitted the most on day one.

Compounds		<u>— — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — </u>		
	Day 1	Day 2	Day3	
Monoterpenes	28,5	27	35,5	
Sesquiterpenes	46	27,5	30	



**Figure 13.** The emissions of sesquiterpenes (a) and monoterpenes (b) plotted against temperature. Solid black line shows the modelled emission according to the temperature dependent algorithm,  $G_{TEMP}$ , with a standard temperature of 20°C. Solid grey line shows the modelled emission when calculated with the  $G_{TL}$  algorithm at the underlying PAR value of the measurements, standard temperature 20°C. As shown in the graphs, the  $G_{TEMP}$  model strictly increases with temperature.

In order to see how emissions would change during the season, PAR and temperature data from above the canopy were used in a model describing linalool emissions according to the  $G_{TL}$  algorithm with a standard temperature of 20°C, from early June to early September (Figure 14). The emissions are much lower than those measured (Figure 9), since the three days in July were very warm and also since the temperature inside the chamber were higher than ambient values (Figure 6). Seasonal emissions are most likely very different from this model, since it only uses two variables, and do not take any seasonal emission patterns into account.



**Figure 14.** The seasonal pattern of linalool emission plotted with the  $G_{TL}$  model (grey line) and temperature data from a sensor above the forest canopy. Thick black line is a moving average of daily emissions. Dashed vertical lines marks the time measuremnts were made (compare figure 9). The above pattern is a model that do not account for the plants' growing patterns or compound regulation by gene expression. True seasonal emissions would most likely look very different.



**Figure 15.** Emission rates (dots) plotted together with modelled emission (solid lines) for the two main BVOC groups; monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes, as well as the main compound emitted; linalool. Black lines show the  $G_{TL}$  model that is dependent on both temperature and PAR. Grey lines show the  $G_{TEMP}$  model (for monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes), which is only dependent on temperature. Standard temperature is 20°C and standard PAR is 1000 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>.



**Figure 16.** Modelled monoterpene values, from  $G_{TEMP}$  (a) and  $G_{TL}$  (b), are plotted against measured values at a standard temperature of 30°C. The ideal relationship between model and measurements is depicted by the grey line, y = x. No models were close to this value.

# 5. Discussion

#### 5.1 SOURCES OF ERROR

#### 5.1.1 Measurements

Making an experimental set up, that is to mimic natural conditions during measurements inside a chamber, can have several implications. Although relative humidity is thought not to affect VOC emissions to any large degree (Kesselmeier and Staudt, 1999), the condensation droplets that occurred inside the chamber during the measurements (Figure 4) might have caught any hydrophilic compounds that where emitted. Although the chambers were flushed prior to measurements, the temperature was significantly higher than that of ambient air, even during the first samples of the day. This implies that the branch inside the chamber did not experience natural variations in the environmental variables that affect BVOC emissions and that flushing the chamber for ten minutes was insufficient. Elevated temperatures inside the chamber can also volatilize compounds that would otherwise be stored inside the plant. All of those compounds are flushed out before measurements and, any emissions afterwards will be solely dependent on synthesis. At some points the temperature sensors were sunlit, probably accounting for some of the steep slopes in the temperature diagrams (Figure 6).

PAR was measured by two sensors nearby the chamber, with differing results. The LI6400 sensor was slightly tilted towards the south and recorded much higher values than the sensor at the top of the canopy that was placed horizontally (Figures 11 and 12). The values from the canopy measurement were deemed better since the other set of values were clearly disturbed, by shadowing of twigs or people, at some points and certain sample times were missing. Also, even if the sensor that was tilted towards the sun show a more accurate incident PAR, all leaves are not facing the same direction. The PAR used in the analysis should be thought of as an average for the leaves in the chamber, since it is impossible to obtain the true value of incident PAR on each leaf. This is also important to keep in mind when modeling emissions from a forest using measurements on sun leaves.

To be able to confidently say anything on BVOC emissions from Mountain birches in general, mores samples are needed. Hapanala *et al.* (2009) investigated the emissions of several trees and found large variations, which might be a property of the Mountain birch, but can also be a result of the small scale and short-term experiments. A long term experiment on several trees would be ideal, but is costly and time-consuming.

#### 5.1.2 Analysis and modelling

The sample tubes were stored refrigerated for a year before they were opened for analysis. This might not have had an impact on the results, but a shorter storage time would eliminate doubts.

The fact that all compounds emitted and caught in the sample tubes, might not have been found in the analysis have large implications for the results of the study. Identifying unknown substances in the GC-MS analysis is dependent on reference samples being available. The compounds that are found and analyzed in this study might therefore not be all of the compounds emitted. This makes the usual grouping of compounds (monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes) very risky, since it can not be said if a specific compound in a group is missing. The monoterpene Sabinene, which was emitted in large amounts (more than 50% of total emission mass from one tree) during the Mountain birch measurements made by Haapanala *et al.* (2009), is one of the compounds that were not identified in the samples of this study, due to the lack of reference samples for the GC.

Although most compound emissions, except for isoprene, in most plants, are calculated using  $G_{\text{TEMP}}$ , slightly better fits, according to RMSE, were achieved using  $G_{\text{TL}}$ . The emission potentials and the modelled values derived from these, do not describe measured values very well, but it seems rather clear that all emissions are slightly better explained by a model that is dependent on PAR and temperature, rather than temperature alone (Figure 13, Figure 15, Table 5). This might be due to external impact, such as an elevated temperature during a long period of time that volatilized stored compounds, or because the production rate of terpenes were quite low, but can also be a feature in the Mountain birch's emission pattern. This is contradicted by Haapanala *et al.* (2009) who got slightly better fits using the  $G_{\text{TEMP}}$  algorithm, but also had much larger emissions. In their analysis a variable  $\beta$ -value was also tested, which further improved the results. This implies that the empirical constants of the algorithms used should be updated, and are perhaps unique to each species and ecosystem.

#### 5.2 RESULTS

The emission rates of this study are much lower than expected. Monoterpene and Sesquiterpene emission potentials are only a fraction of those reported by Haapanala *et al.* (2009), which to my knowledge is the only recent study on Mountain birches that has been made. They did measurements on four trees in 2006 (two years prior to the measurements analyzed in this study) with monoterpene emission rates ( $G_{TEMP}$ , 20°C,  $\beta$ =0,09 °C<sup>-1</sup>) from 188-4090 ng  $g_{dw}^{-1}$  h<sup>-1</sup> and sesquiterpene emission rates ( $G_{TEMP}$ , 20°C,  $\beta$ =0,18 °C<sup>-1</sup>) from 389-2720 ng  $g_{dw}^{-1}$  h<sup>-1</sup>. On one tree, they did measurements again in 2007 and found significantly lower emission rates (about 41% for MT and 5% for SQT, of those in 2006), which they discuss was due to the trees recuperating from an insect (autumnal moth) outbreak that peaked in 2004. Our measurements, done in 2008, could be further proof of a return to normal BVOC emission rates, which should then be lower than their report suggested. Insect outbreaks are, however, reoccurring events that affect the growing patterns of these forests to a large degree (Hoogesteger, 2006), and should therefore be included in long term models.

There are some factors that imply our calculated emission rates and emission potentials for monoterpenes and sesquiterpenes are lower than true values. Haapanala *et al.* (2009) also found large linalool emission, but the dominant compound was sabinene (between 43-66 % of mass emitted from the tree that was measured in 2006 and 2007). This compound was not analyzed in this study, and could theoretically have been present in the samples. Excluding sabinene from their results, linalool accounts for 62 % of the remaining mass emitted in 2007, which is in line with our measurements. Other compounds that they reported significant emissions of, such as ocimene, trans-ocimene and  $\alpha$ -farnesene, were not analyzed either. This is clearly a problem and should be considered in the conclusions of the study.

During the course of a growing season, trees change their emission pattern. The studies in 2006-2007 were carried out earlier in the growing season, which is likely to affect the results. Weih and Karlsson (1999) reported a 12 week growing season for seedlings of the Mountain birch. Ekberg *et al.* (2009) reported a start of emissions from a high latitude wetland site after an accumulated diurnal mean temperature above 0°C of about 100 degree days (unit for accumulated daily temperatures). Hakola *et al.* (2001) measured BVOC emissions from Downy birch, which is a close relative to

the Mountain birch, and found emission peaks of monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes and linalool quite early in the season, after about 400 degree days of accumulated temperatures above 5°C. Our study was conducted in the end of July, after ~600 degree days (Figure 17), while the studies of 2006 and 2007 recorded samples mostly in early July. A few weeks difference in such a study makes a large difference, especially with a growing season of only 12 weeks.



**Figure 17.** The temperature in Abisko during 2008 (www.linnea.com/~ans/). Dashed line show the daily mean temperature. Solid lines are accumulated temperatures above  $o^{\circ}C$  (black) and  $5^{\circ}C$  (grey).

The emission potentials that are calculated in this study fail to describe the emission peaks (Figures 15 and 16). Modelling of emissions during the course of a growing season is therefore bound to result in lower than true values. Comparing emission potentials obtained in a short term measurement on different trees, species or ecosystems will cause problems, unless the data is linked to seasonal emissions. Depending on what is sought after, annual emissions might be a better comparison, since the standardization variables of temperature and PAR is not static.

The long term influence on emission patterns from various environmental stresses can also be a factor that needs to be addressed in a small-scale experiment. A specific tree can be exposed to other temperatures than nearby trees. Prolonged elevated temperatures will change the emission patterns, but a harsh winter also affects the growing patterns. Weih and Karlsson (1999) exposed Mountain birch seedlings to different winter temperatures and found large differences in the summertime growth rate and nutrient uptake capacity, which will likely affect BVOC emissions.

# 6. Conclusions

There are many uncertainties in this study and more research is needed on Mountain birches to get a better understanding of its emission patterns. The results of this study should be used bearing in mind that the emission potentials of the VOC groups might be lower than actual values. Some facts that can be established when looking at the measurements done in Abisko of 2006-2008 (Hakola *et al.*, 2009 and this study) is that Linalool is a compound emitted in large amounts by the Mountain birch, and emissions seem to decrease from year-to-year. Also, the emissions are closely related to the production, as low PAR gives lower or no emission.

Longer term measurements, during the whole growing season would be preferred. The obtained results from such a study could then be used as a pattern when doing short-term experiments. Also, more than one birch needs to be looked at since the variations from tree-to-tree are significant.

It is clear that photosynthesis, humidity, transpiration etc. that was measured by the LI6400 is something that is interesting to measure simultaneously to BVOC emissions. It would, however, be best to measure directly in the chamber if one is after general patterns of the plant, as opposed to the LI6400 device which only measure on one leaf. When a relationship between emissions and photosynthesis has been established, the LI6400 could be used to get a better understanding of the reactions to certain stresses, such as humidity, temperature and PAR, by using the refined machinery to lock all other variables. This is also something that needs to be done on a large-scale since photosynthesis is highly dependent on where on the tree the leaf is (sun and shade leaves), water access etc.

Some of the uncertainties in the results that are due to sampling methods could be reduced by small changes in the experimental set up and execution. With more than one chamber measuring on different trees, the result will be more trustworthy in describing the tree species, apart from the obvious benefit of more sampling points. With a stronger flushing of the chambers, a temperature that is closer to ambient conditions will be achieved at the start of measurements. Pumping air into the chamber at a higher rate could also be a solution to this problem, but leads to lower BVOC concentrations in the outflow air, and might cause other problems for the chamber structure.

Future studies of the Mountain birch as a BVOC emitter will surely be made. Emission inventories will be added to during the next decades, and should be considered when estimating the carbon budgets and climatic feedback systems of subarctic ecosystems.

# Acknowledgements

I thank Thomas Holst, my supervisor, for providing the idea of this thesis, and for giving quick and sound feedback, as well as doing all the field-work in Abisko. Thanks also to proofreaders Emma Tennevall, Karl Fogelmark and Julia Bosiö.

# **References**

- ARNETH, A and NIINEMETS, Ü.: Induced BVOCs: how to bug our models? Trends in Plant Science, **15**, 118-125, 2010.
- ARNETH, A., MONSON, R. K., SCHURGERS, G., NIINEMETS, Ü. and PALMER, P. I.: *Why are estimates of global isoprene emissions so similar (and why is this not so for monoterpenes)?* Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics Discussion **8**, 4605-4620, 2008.
- ARNETH, A., MILLER, P. A., SCHOLZE, M., HICKLER, T., SCHURGERS, G., SMITH, B. and PRENTICE, I. C.: *CO₂ inhibition of global terrestrial isoprene emissions: Potential implications for atmospheric chemistry.* Geophysical Research Letters, **34**, L18813, 2007
- ATKINSON, R.: Atmospheric chemistry of VOCs and NOx. Atmospheric Environment, 34, 2063-2101, 2000.
- BAO, H., SHRESTHA, K. L., KONDO A., KAGA, A. and INOUE, Y.: *Modeling the influence of biogenic volatile organic compound emissions on ozone concentration during summer season in the Kinki region of Japan*. Atmospheric Environment, **44**, 421-431, 2009.
- CHAPIN, F. S., MATSON, P. A. and MOONEY, H. A.: *Principles of terrestrial ecosystem ecology*. New York: Springer Verlag. 105-109, 2002.
- DUDAREVA, N., PICHERSKY, E. and GERSHENZON, J.: *Biochemsitry of plant volatiles*. Plant Physiology, **135**, 1893-1902, 2004.
- DUHL, T. R., HELMIG, D. and GUENTHER, A.: Sesquiterpene emissions from vegetation: a review. Biogeosciences, 5, 761-777, 2008.
- EKBERG, A., ARNETH, A., HAKOLA, H., HAYWARD, S. and HOLST, T.: *Isoprene emissions from wetland sedges*. Biogeosciences, **6**, 601-613, 2009.
- FAUBERT, P., TIIVA, P., RINNAN, A., MICHELSEN, A., HOLOPAINEN, J.K. AND RINNAN, R.: Doubled volatile organic compound emissions from subarctic tundra under simulated climate warming. New Phytologist, 187, 199-208, 2010.
- GOLDSTEIN, A. H., KOVEN, C. D., HEALD, C. L. AND FUNG, I. Y.: *Biogenic carbon and anthropogenic pollutants combine to form a cooling haze over the southeastern United States.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, **106**, 8835-8840, 2009.
- GROTE, R. and NIINEMETS, Ü.: *Modeling volatile isoprenoid emissions a story with split ends*.Plant Biology, **10**, 8-28, 2008.
- GUENTHER, A., ZIMMERMAN, P. and HARLEY, P.: Isoprene emission rate variability: Model evaluations and sensitivity analyses. Journal of Geophysical Research, **98**, 12609-12617, 1993.
- GUENTHER, A., HEWITT, C.N., ERICKSON, D., FALL, R., GERON, C., GRAEDEL, T., HARLEY, P., KLINGER, L., LERDAU, M., MCKAY, W. A., PIERCE, T., SCHOLES, B., STEINBRECHER, R., TALLAMRAJU, R., TAYLOR, J. AND ZIMMERMAN, P: A global model of natural organic compound emissions. Journal of Geophysical Research. 100, 8873-8892, 1995.
- GUENTHER, A: Seasonal and spatial variations in natural volatile organic compound emissions. Ecological Applications, 7, 34-45, 1997.
- HAAPANALA, S., EKBERG, A., HAKOLA, H., TARVAINEN, V., RINNE, J., HELLÉN, H. and ARNETH, A.: *Mountain Birch potentially large source of sesquiterpenes into high latitude atmosphere*. Biogeosciences, **6**, 2709-2718, 2009.
- HAKOLA, H., TARVAINEN, V., BÄCK, J., RANTA, H., BONN, B, RINNE, J. and KULMALA, M.: Seasonal variation of mono- and sesquiterpene emission rates of Scots pine. Biogeosciences, **3**, 93-101, 2006.
- HAKOLA, H., LAURILA, T., LINDFORS, V., HELLÉN, H., GAMAN, A. and RINNE, J.: Variation of the VOC emission rates of birch species during the growing season. Boreal Environment, **6**, 237–249, 2001.
- HAKOLA, H., RINNE, R. and LAURILA, T.: *The hydrocarbon emission rates of Tea-leafed willow (Salix Phylicifolia), Silver birch (Betula Pendula) and Europan aspen (Populus Tremula).* Atmospheric Environment, **32**, 1825-1833, 1998.

- HARLEY, P., GUENTHER, A. and ZIMMERMAN, P.: Effects of light, temperature and canopy position on net photosynthesis and isoprene emission from sweetgum (Liquidambar styraciflua) leaves. Tree Physiology, 16, 25–32, 1996
- HEALD, C. L., HENZE, D. K., HOROWITZ, L. W., FEDDEMA, J., LAMARQUE, J.-F., GUENTHER, A., HESS, P. G., VITT, F., SEINFELD, J.H., GOLDSTEIN, A. H. and FUNG, I.: Predicted change in global secondary organic aerosol concentrations in response to future climate, emissions, and land use change. Journal of Geophysical Research, 113, D05211, 2008.
- HENZE, D. K. and SEINFELD, J. H.: *Global secondary organic aerosol from isoprene oxidation*. Geophysical Research Letters, **33**, L09812, 2006.
- HOOGESTEGER, J: *Tree ring dynamics in mountain birch*. Licentiate thesis, Faculty of Natural resources and Agricultural Sciences, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), Department of Crop Production Ecology (VPE), Uppsala, 2006
- HUA, W., CHEN, Z. M., JIE, C. Y., KONDO, Y., HOFZUMAHAUS, A., TAKEGAWA, N., CHANG, C. C., LU, K. D., MIYAZAKI, Y., KITA, K., WANG, H. L., ZHANG, Y. H. and HU M.: *Atmospheric hydrogen peroxide and* organic hydroperoxides during PRIDE-PRD'06, China: their concentration, formation mechanism and contribution to secondary aerosols. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, **8**, 6755-6773, 2008.
- IPCC 2007: IPCC WGI Fourth Assessment Report to Climate Change: The Physical Science Basis; Summary for Policymakers. IPCC Secretariat, Geneva, Switzerland, 18p.
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) 2001: Climate Change 2001: The scientific basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Houghton, J.T., Ding, Y., Griggs, D.J., Noguer, M., van der Linden, P.J., Dai, X., Maskell, K., Johnson, C.A. (Eds.). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- KARL, T., GUENTHER, A., TURNIPSEED, A., PATTON, E. G. AND JARDINE, K.: *Chemical sensing of plant* stress at the ecosystem scale. Biogeosciences Discussion, **5**, 1287-1294, 2008.
- KELLOMÄKI, S., R O U V I N E N, R., PELTOLA, H., STRANDMAN, H. and STEINBRECHER, R.: Impact of global warming on the tree species composition of boreal forests in Finland and effects on emissions of isoprenoids. Global Change Biology, 7, 531-544, 2001
- KESSELMEIER, J. and Staudt, M.: Biogenic volatile organic compounds (VOC): An overview on emission, physiology and ecology. Journal of Atmospheric Chemistry, **33**, 23-88, 1999.
- LAOTHAWORNKITKUL, J., TAYLOR, J. E., PAUL, N. D. and HEWITT, C. N.: *Biogenic volatile organic compounds in the Earth system*. New Phytologist, **183**, 27-51, 2009.
- LATHIÈRE, J., HAUGLUSTAINE, D. A., FRIEND, A. D., DE NOBLET-DUCOUDRÉ, N., VIOVY, N. and FOLBERTH, G. A.: *Impact of climate variability and land use changes on global biogenic volatile organic compound emissions*. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, **6**, 2129-2146, 2006.
- LLUSIÀ, J. and PEÑUELAS, J. Seasonal patterns of terpene content and emission from seven Mediterranean woody species in field conditions. American Journal of Botany, **87**, 133–140, 2000.
- LOMBARD, J. and MOREIRA, D.: Origins and early evolution of the mevalonate pathway of isoprenoid biosynthesis in the three domains of life. Molecular Biology and Evolution. **28**, 87-99, 2011.
- MATSUNAGA, S., MOCHIDA, M. and KAWAMURA, K.: *Growth of organic aerosols by biogenic semi-volatile carbonyls in the forestal atmosphere*. Atmospheric Environment, **37**, 2045-2050, 2003.
- MÜHLBAUER, R.C., LOZANO, A., PALACIO, S., REINLI, A., and FELIX, R.: *Common herbs, essential oils, and monoterpenes potently modulate bone metabolism.* Bone, **32**, 372-380, 2003.
- NIINEMETS, Ü., LORETO, F. and REICHSTEIN, M.: *Physiological and physicochemical controls on foliar volatile organic compound emissions.* Trends in Plant Science, **9**, 180-186, 2004.
- ORTEGA, J., HELMIG, D., DALY, R. W., TANNER, D. M., GUENTHER, A. B. and HERRICK, J. D.: Approaches for quantifying reactive and low-volatility biogenic organic compound emissions by vegetation enclosure techniques Part B: Applications. Chemosphere, **72**, 365-380, 2008.
- OWEN, S. M. and PEÑUELAS, J.: Opportunistic emissions of volatile isoprenoids. Trends in Plant Science, 10, 420-426, 2005.

- PACIFICO, F., HARRISON, S. P., JONES, C. D. and SITCH, S.: *Isoprene emissions and climate*. Atmospheric Environment, **43**, 6121-6135, 2009.
- PEÑUELAS, J. and STAUDT, M.: BVOCs and global change. Trends in Plant Science, 15, 133-144, 2010.
- PEÑUELAS, J. and MUNNÉ -BOSCH, S.: *Isoprenoids: an evolutionary pool for photoprotection*. Trends in Plant Science, **10**, 166-169, 2005.
- PEÑUELAS, J., LLUSIÀ, J. and ESTIARTE, M.: *Terpenoids: a plant language*. Trends in Ecology and Evolution, **10**, 289, 1995.
- RAGUSO, R. A. and PICHERSKY, E.: A day in the life of a linalool molecule: Chemical communication in a plantpollinator system. Part 1: Linalool biosynthesis in flowering plants. Plant Species Biology, **14**, 95-120, 1999.
- REICH, H. J., University of Wisconsin: WINPLT32: Drawing Chemical Structures Version 7.1.17, October 3, 2010 (http://www.chem.wisc.edu/areas/reich/plt/winplt.htm) 2011-03-20.
- SECO, R., PEÑUELAS, J. and FILELLA, I.: Short-chain oxygenated VOCs: Emission and uptake by plants and atmospheric sources, sinks, and concentrations. Atmospheric Environment, **41**, 2477-2499, 2007.
- SHARKEY, T. D., WIBERLEY, A. E. and DONOHUE, A. R.: *Isoprene emissions from plants: why and how.* Annals of Botany, **101**. 5-18, 2008.
- SCHURGERS, G., ARNETH, A., HOLZINGER, R. and GOLDSTEIN, A. H.: Process-based modelling of biogenic monoterpene emissions combining production and release from storage. Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics, 9, 3409-3423, 2009.
- SJÖGERSTEN, S. and WOOKEY, P. A.: The impact of climate change on ecosystem carbon dynamics at the scandinavian mountain birch forest-tundra heath ecotone. Ambio, **38**, 2-10, 2009.
- SKÖLD, M., BÖRJE, A., HARAMBASIC, E. and KARLBERG, A-T.: Contact Allergens Formed on Air Exposure of Linalool. Identification and Quantification of Primary and Secondary Oxidation Products and the Effect on Skin Sensitization. Chemical Research in Toxicology, 17, 1697-1705, 2004.
- VICKERS, C. E., POSSELL, M., COJOCARIU, C. I., VELIKOVA, V., B., LAOTHAWORNKITKUL, J., RYAN, A, MULLINEAUX, P. M. and HEWITT, C. N.: *Isoprene synthesis protects transgenic tobacco plants from oxidative stress.* Plant, Cell and Environment, **32**, 520-531, 2009.
- VUORINEN, T., NERG, A.-M., VAPAAVUORI, E. and HOLOPAINEN, J.K.: Emission of volatile organic compounds from two silver birch (Betula pendula Roth) clones grown under ambient and elevated CO2 and different O3 concentrations. Atmospheric Environment, **39**, 1185-1197, 2005
- WEIH, M. and KARLSSON, P. S.: *The nitrogen economy of mountain birch seedlings: Implications for winter survival.* Journal of Ecology, **87**, 211-219, 1999.

Lunds Universitets Naturgeografiska institution. Seminarieuppsatser. Uppsatserna finns tillgängliga på Naturgeografiska institutionens bibliotek, Sölvegatan 12, 223 62 LUND. Serien startade 1985. Hela listan och själva uppsatserna är även tillgängliga på http://www.geobib.lu.se/

The reports are available at the Geo-Library, Department of Physical Geography, University of Lund, Sölvegatan 12, S-223 62 Lund, Sweden.

Report series started 1985. The whole complete list and electronic versions are available at http://www.geobib.lu.se/

- 157 Öberg, Hanna (2009): GIS-användning i katastrofdrabbade utvecklingsländer
- 158 Marion Früchtl & Miriam Hurkuck (2009): Reproduction of methane emissions from terrestrial plants under aerobic conditions
- 159 Florian Sallaba (2009): Potential of a Post-Classification Change Detection Analysis to Identify Land Use and Land Cover Changes. A Case Study in Northern Greece
- 160 Sara Odelius (2009): Analys av stadsluftens kvalitet med hjälp av geografiska informationssystem.
- 161 Carl Bergman (2009): En undersökning av samband mellan förändringar i fenologi och temperatur 1982-2005 med hjälp av GIMMS datasetet och klimatdata från SMHI.
- 162 Per Ola Olsson (2009): Digitala höjdmodeller och höjdsystem. Insamling av höjddata med fokus på flygburen laserskanning.
- 163 Johanna Engström (2009): Landskapets påverkan på vinden -sett ur ett vindkraftperspektiv.
- 164 Andrea Johansson (2009): Olika våtmarkstypers påverkan på CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O och CO<sub>2</sub> utsläpp, och upptag av N<sub>2</sub>.
- 165 Linn Elmlund (2009): The Threat of Climate Change to Coral Reefs
- 166 Hanna Forssman (2009): Avsmältningen av isen på Arktis mätmetoder, orsaker och effekter.
- 167 Julia Olsson (2009): Alpina trädgränsens förändring i Jämtlands- och Dalarnas län över 100 år.
- 168 Helen Thorstensson (2009): Relating soil properties to biomass consumption and land management in semiarid Sudan – A Minor Field Study in North Kordofan
- 169 Nina Cerić och Sanna Elgh Dalgren (2009): Kustöversvämningar och GIS
  en studie om Skånska kustnära kommuners arbete samt interpolationsmetodens betydelse av höjddata vid översvämningssimulering.
- 170 Mats Carlsson (2009): Aerosolers påverkan på klimatet.
- 171 Elise Palm (2009): Övervakning av gåsbete av vass en metodutveckling
- 172 Sophie Rychlik (2009): Relating interannual variability of atmospheric CH<sub>4</sub> growth rate to large-scale CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from northern wetlands
- 173 Per-Olof Seiron and Hanna Friman (2009): The Effects of Climate Induced Sea Level Rise on the Coastal Areas in the Hambantota District, Sri Lanka - A geographical study of Hambantota and an identification of vulnerable ecosystems and land use along the coast.
- 174 Norbert Pirk (2009): Methane Emission Peaks from Permafrost Environments: Using Ultra–Wideband Spectroscopy, Sub-Surface Pressure Sensing and Finite Element Solving as Means of their Exploration
- 175 Hongxiao Jin (2010): Drivers of Global Wildfires Statistical analyses

- 176 Emma Cederlund (2010): Dalby Söderskog Den historiska utvecklingen
- 177 Lina Glad (2010): En förändringsstudie av Ivösjöns strandlinje
- 178 Erika Filppa (2010): Utsläpp till luft från ballastproduktionen år 2008
- 179 Karolina Jacobsson (2010):Havsisens avsmältning i Arktis och dess effekter
- 180 Mattias Spångmyr (2010): Global of effects of albedo change due to urbanization
- 181 Emmelie Johansson & Towe Andersson (2010): Ekologiskt jordbruk ett sätt att minska övergödningen och bevara den biologiska mångfalden?
- 182 Åsa Cornander (2010): Stigande havsnivåer och dess effect på känsligt belägna bosättningar
- 183 Linda Adamsson (2010): Landskapsekologisk undersökning av ädellövskogen i Östra Vätterbranterna
- 184 Ylva Persson (2010): Markfuktighetens påverkan på granens tillväxt i Guvarp
- 185 Boel Hedgren (2010): Den arktiska permafrostens degradering och metangasutsläpp
- 186 Joakim Lindblad & Johan Lindenbaum (2010): GIS-baserad kartläggning av sambandet mellan pesticidförekomster i grundvatten och markegenskaper
- 187 Oscar Dagerskog (2010): Baösberggrottan Historiska tillbakablickar och en lokalklimatologisk undersökning
- 188 Mikael Månsson (2010): Webbaserad GIS-klient för hantering av geologisk information
- 189 Lina Eklund (2010): Accessibility to health services in the West Bank, occupied Palestinian Territory.
- 190 Edvin Eriksson (2010): Kvalitet och osäkerhet i geografisk analys En studie om kvalitetsaspekter med fokus på osäkerhetsanalys av rumslig prognosmodell för trafikolyckor
- 191 Elsa Tessaire (2010): Impacts of stressful weather events on forest ecosystems in south Sweden.
- 192 Xuejing Lei (2010): Assessment of Climate Change Impacts on Cork Oak in Western Mediterranean Regions: A Comparative Analysis of Extreme Indices
- 193 Radoslaw Guzinski (2010) Comparison of vegetation indices to determine their accuracy in predicting spring phenology of Swedish ecosystems
- 194 Yasar Arfat (2010) Land Use / Land Cover Change Detection and Quantification — A Case study in Eastern Sudan
- 195 Ling Bai (2010) Comparison and Validation of Five Global Land Cover Products Over African Continent
- 196 Raunaq Jahan (2010) Vegetation indices, FAPAR and spatial seasonality analysis of crops in southern Sweden
- 197 Masoumeh Ghadiri (2010) Potential of Hyperion imagery for simulation of MODIS NDVI and AVHRR-consistent NDVI time series in a semi-arid region
- 198 Maoela A. Malebajoa (2010) Climate change impacts on crop yields and adaptive measures for agricultural sector in the lowlands of Lesotho
- 199 Herbert Mbufong Njuabe (2011) Subarctic Peatlands in a Changing Climate: Greenhouse gas response to experimentally increased snow cover
- 200 Naemi Gunlycke & Anja Tuomaala (2011) Detecting forest degradation in Marakwet district, Kenya, using remote sensing and GIS
- 201 Nzung Seraphine Ebang (2011) How was the carbon balance of Europe affected by the summer 2003 heat wave? A study based on the use of a Dynamic Global Vegetation Model; LPJ-GUESS
- 202 Per-Ola Olsson (2011) Cartography in Internet-based view services methods

to improve cartography when geographic data from several sources are combined

203 Kristoffer Mattisson (2011) Modelling noise exposure from roads – a case study in Burlövs municipality